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Prologue


The group portrait hangs in a ‘private area’ of Highgrove House, the country residence of Charles, the current Prince of Wales. A valuable and rather puzzling historical artefact, it is only available for direct inspection by members of the royal household, as it is in ‘a very high security location . . . impossible to access’, according to a representative of the Surveyor of the Queen’s Pictures.


It shows a family: two children dressed in white, three women in scarlet, three men and an older woman in black. It was probably commissioned by Prince Charles’s namesake and ancestor, Charles I, some time between January 1628, when its youngest subject was born, and 23 August of that year, the day its central figure was assassinated.


It is a dreadful painting, awkwardly arranged and cluttered with ostentatious detail. The statue of a lion to one side is almost comical, squatting on an improbably large plinth, the menacing growl that the artist presumably intended looking like an awkward grimace, and his tousled mane like a dandy’s wig.


On the opposite side of the scene, an open glass doorway provides a glimpse of a terrace or balcony with a marble balustrade, beyond which lies a formal garden and the rolling pastures of the family estate.


On the floor is a scarlet Turkish rug, overhead a dark blue awning or canopy. To either side there are what appear to be statues of Greek gods or satyrs, bare-chested, their right hands clutching what might be sconces or candle holders. In the muddy dark background, two strange images are just visible, probably lion heads, perched, like the other classical characters, on fluted columns.


The clumsy composition extends to the figures spread out across the centre of the canvas, the crudeness of the painting’s execution highlighting the gaudiness of the subjects.


They are members of the most powerful clan of the age: the Villiers family, who came to prominence during the reign of James VI of Scotland and I of England. To the left is Susan – Countess of Denbigh at the time the portrait was painted. Little is known about her, which perhaps reflects her even-tempered character and relatively uneventful life. She sits next to her sister-in-law, Kate, the Duchess of Buckingham, an anxious, needy but resourceful woman who lost her mother when she was an infant, and had to fight to escape the influence of a controlling, irascible father.


The two men standing to the right are John, the mad, philandering Viscount Purbeck, and Christopher or ‘Kit’, the Earl of Anglesey, a feckless and unemployable drunkard. Adopting a casual pose in the picture, John was prone to outbursts of violent mania, followed by periods of catatonic stupor. Kit, known to be vicious as well as lazy, looks more apprehensive, grabbing on to a chair arm with one hand while resting the knuckles of the other on the lion’s plinth.


In the foreground are two children. The older is Mary, known as ‘Mal’ to King James, who treated her as a grandchild and delighted in watching her play in his privy chambers when her parents were away. Next to her is her infant brother George, presented like a trophy on a black velvet cushion brocaded in gold. He would grow up to become an incorrigible political schemer and celebrated wit. The young woman propping him up and staring blankly to one side is probably Susan’s teenage daughter, another Mary, the child bride of James, Duke of Hamilton.


Looming behind the group is a framed portrait, the only known image of Sir George Villiers – of Brooksby, Leicestershire – the patriarch. The large woman sitting beneath his picture, the roundness of her face, the spread of her arms and her shapeless dress suggesting a middle-aged woman running to fat, is his widow, another Mary, the Countess of Buckingham. Sitting to the right of the countess is her second and favourite son, George, responsible for the family’s rise from rural obscurity to become the most powerful aristocratic dynasty in the country. He is the reason the portrait was painted and now hangs in royal splendour.


The sexual charisma for which he was famous, the ‘magic thraldom’ he held over those who came under his spell, the arresting looks that made him ‘a man to draw an angel by’ – none of it is detectable in this depiction of him. Neither is there much evidence of the dashing bravado that enchanted his friends, or the appealing humility that beguiled his enemies.


His mother, the countess, has a hint of guardedness, emphasized by her huge ruff, and the slight parting of her lips makes her appear startled. George’s sideways glance out of the picture, on the other hand, makes him look shifty. It adds an unsettling mood to the entire scene, as though something dreadful is about to happen, if it has not already occurred.




ACT I


Christ Had His John and I Have My George




The King’s Way


In the early seventeenth century, the writer and cleric John Earle spelled out the plight of the younger brother. Under the principle of primogeniture that meant the eldest male child inherited his father’s entire estate, the younger brother’s prospects were miserable. He was at the ‘mercy of the world’, Earle wrote, either ‘condemned’ to join the Church (Earle was writing from personal experience – he would go on to become a bishop), or, worse, headed for the ‘king’s road’, ‘a more crooked path yet’ which led through a life of aimless dissolution and debauched resentment to Tyburn’s tree, the infamous setting of London’s gallows.


Languishing in the condemned cell at Newgate or the King’s Bench, under the shadow of Tyburn’s twisted limbs, the younger brother’s only hope of a reprieve would be desperate appeals to the older brother, who, out of family pride rather than fraternal love, must be prevailed on to use his inheritance and influence to secure a royal pardon. But even if a pardon was granted, relief was short-lived. The restless search for some kind of purpose as well as living would continue, perhaps taking him across the Channel to the war-torn Low Countries, ‘where rags and lice are no scandal, where he lives a poor gentleman of a company, and dies without a shirt’.


These were the prospects facing George Villiers. If anything, they were even more hopeless. He was a younger brother in a second family. His father, Sir George, a Leicestershire MP and landowner, had died suddenly in 1606, when the younger George was thirteen years old. He left behind crippling debts, six children by a first marriage, and a further four by Mary, George the younger’s mother. Sir George had not left a will, so the entire estate had gone to his eldest son by his first marriage, William. Any provision for Mary or her children was now dependent on the generosity of a stepson who was openly hostile.*


Mary had no land or wealth of her own to fall back on. She had pedigree: her ancestors, the Beaumonts, had been earls of Leicester in the thirteenth century, and her gravestone would insist she was ‘descended from Five Kings of the most powerful kingdoms of All Europe’. But the line had since dwindled into obscurity. By Mary’s generation, the most notable members of her clan were no longer mighty kings and noble earls, but petty lawyers and struggling dramatists.


Her father was Anthony Beaumont, a Leicestershire squire. In her early teens, Mary had been sent to live with her father’s richer kinsman, Henry Beaumont of Coleorton, who had served as an MP for Leicestershire during the reign of Queen Elizabeth. There she had served as a ‘waiting woman’ to Henry’s wife Elizabeth, a socially ambiguous position that embraced many roles – maid, dresser, drudge, adornment, a companion for social outings, a conspirator in domestic disputes.*


It was at Coleorton she met her future husband, George Villiers senior. He was a distant relative of the Beaumonts and had come to stay with the family soon after the death of his first wife. His arrival might have brought a whiff of masculine rivalry to the household, as George had just acquired one of the sleepier Beaumont estates, Goadby Marwood, in 1575, and had set about ‘enclosing’ it. This was a practice his family had already successfully and ruthlessly applied to the main Villiers seat at Brooksby, about twenty miles from Coleorton, the other side of Leicester. It involved evicting tenant farmers who had for centuries been cultivating small plots of land on the estate and enclosing the fields with fencing so they could be grazed by sheep. The enterprising, opportunistic George had begun a similar process at Goadby, with the result that he now boasted possession of the impressively refurbished ‘ancient mansion house’, standing amid rolling pastures, deserted cottages and rusting ploughshares.


The Villiers clan was known to be a colourful, sometimes thuggish local presence. George’s roguish uncle, Sir John, had sired a bastard son and famously confronted a local magnate by riding into town at the head of a posse of ‘eight or nine horses’ with a ‘sword and buckler by his side’, which he threatened to use if anyone dared to arrest him.


Mary was evidently impressed with the glamorous visitor. Barely in her mid-teens, she made her ‘handsome presence’ known to the forty-year-old widower, and he ‘became very sweet on her’. He reportedly offered her £20 to buy a dress that would flatter her ‘beautiful and excellent frame’, and she obliged. As a result, his ‘affections became so fired’ that to ‘allay them’ he proposed marriage.*


They had their first child, a boy called Samuel, in June 1590, suggesting they were married before October 1589 (assuming George’s affections were not ‘fired’ prematurely). Samuel survived only a month. Four more children followed in quick succession: John (perhaps named in honour of the roguish uncle), Susan, George (named after the father), and Christopher or ‘Kit’. All except Susan seemed to suffer from ill health. John had what was politely termed ‘giddiness of the head’, which manifested as fits of violent rage, while Kit, the youngest, suffered from a ‘weak brain’, a kind of moral lassitude that ‘could not buoy him up from sinking into that distemper that drowns the best wits’.


Then there was George. He nearly died of a childhood illness, and he would continue to suffer lapses of health throughout his life. Like his older brother, he could be volatile, later admitting that as a child he would ‘nothing else but unreasonably and frowardly wrangle’. But these weaknesses only served to show off his strengths. For in George, Mary had her paragon: a charismatic, handsome young man, with an athletic if delicate frame, and a precociously confident manner tempered by a disarming humility and sometimes desperate vulnerability. Even his ‘froward wrangling’ added to his charm, acting as a register of emotional honesty, a candour that snuffed out feelings of hatred or disgust before they could take hold.


Though she remained fiercely protective of all her brood, Mary put everything into the raising of George, her ‘domestic favourite’, as one family friend later put it. He became the embodiment of her hopes and instrument of her ambitions. For his part, he reciprocated by later expressing his feelings of a ‘more than ordinary natural love of a mother which you have ever borne me’.


By the 1590s, the family as a whole was beginning to thrive, and no expense was to be spared in increasing its status. This inevitably meant stretching the finances to such an extent that, in 1592, perhaps in response to a looming crisis, a list of creditors was drawn up. This showed that George senior owed over £2,500 – more than ten times the annual income generated by the family estates. Nevertheless, it was money well spent: £20 9s on entertainment, £30 – a decent annual income for a craftsman – on a hat and coat. After all, reckless extravagance, rather than thrift, was the signifier of social ambition in an age of swaggering ostentation.


In January 1594, the extravagance was rewarded with a knighthood. It came for no obvious reason from the Lord Deputy of Ireland rather than the king, making it somewhat dubious, but that would have been of little concern to the former waiting woman who, now in her early twenties, could call herself Lady Mary. In 1603, the ascent continued with Sir George being selected as one of Leicestershire’s two Members of Parliament alongside Mary’s former benefactor, Henry Beaumont (also now a knight, though receiving the honour nearly a decade later than her husband).


Commensurate with this rising status, Mary cultivated an atmosphere of metropolitan sophistication at the Villiers residence that must have amused her more down-to-earth neighbours. For example, she decided to hire a personal musician, who lived with the Villiers some time in the mid-1590s, while George the younger was still in his cradle. Thomas Vautor would go on to write exquisite madrigals dedicated to his patroness and her son, songs celebrating the courtly arts of seduction and deceit.


To prepare George the younger for a place on the family’s upward trajectory, Mary arranged for him to be tutored by Anthony Cade, the Cambridge-educated vicar of nearby Billesdon, who advertised himself as teaching ‘some nobles and many other young gentlemen of the best sort’.


All of this progress came to a shocking halt with Sir George’s sudden death in 1606. He had probably been in London at the time, attending King James I’s first Parliament. He may have been a victim of the plague, struck down in the latter stages of a dreadful epidemic that had already killed tens of thousands.


The death transformed Mary from lady of the manor into a ‘relict’, the genteel term for a widow that cruelly captured her ruined status. Her children too were suddenly at risk. Her teenage daughter Susan was unmarried, and it would now be all the harder to find a suitable husband. None of her boys, not even George, had the education or intellect for a life in the Church, university or law; they apparently faced the alternative John Earle had so vividly described: the king’s road to Tyburn’s tree.




The Malcontent


‘At last, with easy roads, he came to Leicester,’ Shakespeare wrote in Henry VIII. And so, in 1606, came Shakespeare’s acting company, the King’s Men. Thanks to the wealth generated by the wool its increasingly enclosed pastures produced, the city of Leicester had become a centre of culture as well as trade in the English midlands, and a regular stopping-off place for London’s acting troupes as they toured the country.


The King’s Men were booked to appear at Leicester’s Guildhall, and among their repertoire of productions was a play especially commissioned for that year’s season called The Malcontent by John Marston, which had been revised in collaboration with John Webster. Drama was now firmly established as a semi-official medium for airing public anxieties too sensitive to discuss directly, and the King’s Men’s version of The Malcontent touched upon the most sensitive and current matter of all: the xenophobic fear that England was being taken over by a Scottish elite of corrupt deviants.


In March 1603, Queen Elizabeth had died without heir, ending the Tudor era and throwing England into a state of anxious uncertainty about the future. Under a secret deal hatched by the government’s chief minister Robert Cecil, James VI of Scotland, Elizabeth’s cousin and a member of the Stuart dynasty, was proclaimed her successor.


Within weeks of Elizabeth’s death, the new king had arrived in London with a large retinue of Scottish courtiers, becoming James VI of Scotland and I of England (being the first monarch south of the border to bear that name). The change of regime produced a deep cultural as well as political shock at the very highest levels. James’s entourage appeared to behave in a manner at odds with the more reserved English courtiers, particularly in their taste for flamboyant displays of public emotion and raucous feasts and entertainments – a habit apparently learned from the royal courts of France, making it all the more distasteful. The vulgar masculinity of their behaviour was hard to reconcile with the more restrained practices and habits that had evolved over the four decades of Elizabeth’s reign.


A major concern was the new king’s weakness for ‘favourites’ – male acolytes chosen for their good looks and charming manners rather than noble birth or financial wealth. To the horror of James’s English nobles, advisors and ministers, he relied on them not only for emotional and, it was suspected, sexual succour, but political and diplomatic advice.


James made little effort to disguise his feelings for these men. In 1584 a narrative poem called ‘A Metaphorical Invention of a Tragedy called Phoenix’ was published in Edinburgh as part of an anonymous poetry collection. It told the story of an exotic bird that landed in Scotland, attracting a great deal of admiration. Other birds became envious of the attention the phoenix was getting, and attacked it, forcing it to find refuge between the narrator’s legs. Eventually, it took flight, and was consumed by the flames from which it had emerged.


James, who was seventeen when he wrote the poem, was widely known to be the author of this strange ‘Metaphorical Invention’, and he did not make it difficult to identify the subject. An acrostic in one of the poem’s verses spelled out the name of Esmé Stuart, a cousin of James’s murdered father, Lord Darnley, who had come from France to join the thirteen-year-old king’s Scottish court in 1579. James’s infatuation for the much older Esmé (he was thirty-seven when they first met) left little doubt as to whose thighs had provided the phoenix with shelter. The king had exuberantly celebrated Stuart’s ‘eminent ornaments of body and mind’, his ‘comely proportions’ and ‘civil behaviour’, and had been seen at public events to embrace him in a ‘most amorous manner’. Esmé, suspected by James’s predominantly Protestant court of being an agent of the Catholic cause, had been forced into exile in 1582, and had died in May the following year. James had received soon after a ‘kist’ (small coffer) containing Esmé’s embalmed heart, a gesture that provoked the feelings poured into the ‘Metaphorical Invention’.


James’s attitude towards Esmé had been well known in England, it being noted with disapproval that the Scottish king had become ‘altogether . . . persuaded and led’ by him, ‘for he can hardly suffer him out of his presence, and is in such love with him, as in the open sight of the people, oftentimes he will clasp him about the neck with his arms and kiss him’. Christopher Marlowe made a sly allusion to Esmé in the opening lines of his 1594 history play Edward II, which mentioned King Edward’s notorious favourite, Piers Gaveston, having ‘swum from France’ to ‘smile’ and take the king in his arms. The play also referred to the king’s weakness for ‘minions’ and ‘ganymedes’, words that carried strong associations with homoeroticism and pederasty.


Since James’s arrival in England, it was noted how such minions and ganymedes had been congregating in the royal bedchamber, sleeping with him, pandering to him, and, to the even greater shock of government ministers forced to wait at the door, deciding who should have access to him.


The new version of The Malcontent commissioned by the King’s Men in 1604 had played on these anxieties, and as such would have found a receptive audience among the burghers and gentry of Leicester, worried about the gossip reaching them from London.


The play began with a warning against taking offence at what was to follow, as the ‘old freedom of the pen’ must be allowed to ‘write of fools, while it writes of men’. And offence duly followed. Like the best satires, what was most deplorable the play brought most luridly and vividly to life – in this case, London’s courtly corruption thinly disguised by being relocated to Genoa in Italy. The first stage directions for the first act literally set the tone, by calling for the sound of ‘the vilest out-of-tune music’. The music, it turned out, was coming from the chamber of the malcontent of the title, Malvole, the deposed and exiled Duke of Genoa who has returned to his court in disguise to try to settle scores and recover his title. As the dreadful din sent winces through the auditorium, Pietro, who had usurped the dukedom, entered with his entourage, including Ferrardo, described as Pietro’s ‘minion’. Ferrardo called to Malvole, provoking a tirade: ‘Yaugh! God-a’-man, what dost thou there? Duke’s Ganymede, Juno’s jealous of thy long stockings. Shadow of a woman, what woulds’t, weasel? Thou lamb o’court, what dost thou bleat for? Ah, you smooth-chinned catamite.’


Plenty there to shock a provincial audience: the reference to Ganymede; to Juno, the Roman name for Zeus’s wife, supposedly jealous of her husband’s lustful infatuation with his cupbearer; to effeminacy (‘shadow of a woman’), and to prepubescent boys used by older men for sexual entertainment (‘smooth-chinned catamite’). Also, the littering of references to ‘bawbees’, Scottish pennies, ‘Scotch barnacles’ and a ‘Scotch boot’ made contemporary parallels all the more obvious.


For an ambitious gentlewoman, though, a recent widow facing obscurity and penury, it was perhaps not these scandalous pronouncements that would stick in the mind, nor Malvole’s relentless diatribes against a duplicitous and deviant elite that had usurped his position. It would have been a soliloquy given by Malvole’s antagonist Mendoza, a powerful speech delivered direct to the audience describing what it was like to be a royal favourite:




What a delicious heaven it is for a man to be in a prince’s favour! . . . O sweet god! O Pleasure! O Fortune! O all thou best of life! . . . To be a favourite! A minion! To have a general timorous respect observe a man, a stateful silence in his presence, solitariness in his absence, a confused hum and busy murmur of obsequious suitors training him; the vassals licking the pavement with their slavish knees . . . O blessed state! What a ravishing prospect doth the Olympus of favour yield!






All We Here Sit in Darkness


Following the death of her husband, Mary Villiers no longer had any property of her own. She had been allowed to stay at Goadby Marwood, but as tenant rather than mistress, with an antagonistic stepson for a landlord. This was a very weak position if she was to realize her impossibly ambitious plans to get George into the royal court. She also had to think of her daughter. Susan’s sweet nature and good looks had attracted the interest of an eligible husband: William Feilding, the son of a Warwickshire gentleman. Though a man of ‘modest abilities’, he was heir to estates that yielded an annual income of £200, enough to keep Mary’s daughter relatively comfortable and independent. However, William’s father was demanding a dowry of £2,500 – a vast sum for an impecunious widow. If she was ever to pay it, her only hope was to find a rich husband of her own.


Sir William Reynor was in his eighties, a former Sheriff of Nottingham with several lucrative estates to his name and no male heirs. He had also known Mary’s late husband – indeed he was one of his largest creditors, being owed £330 by Sir George in 1592.


Though some suspected that Mary had ‘compassed by . . . enticement and persuasions’ the aged widower, others claimed that he had been ‘an earnest suitor for marriage’. And why not? She was ‘beautiful and provident’, and in her early thirties, the same age as Sir William’s daughter by his first marriage.


However, within a few weeks of the wedding, it became clear that Sir William was not prepared to provide the support for her family that Mary expected. So, on 23 September 1606, his new bride decided to take matters into her own hands.


Suffering from ‘some extremity of sickness’, Sir William had moved from his house at Stanton-upon-the-Wolds, Nottinghamshire to his family’s main property at Orton Longueville in Cambridgeshire. Hearing the news, Mary, together with a band of her most loyal servants, set off on the fifteen-mile journey to Stanton. There they ‘entered into the dwelling house . . . and with false keys, picklocks, and other instruments and engines, broke open the doors and locks of the parlours, chambers, studies and closets, and did rifle and ransack the said chambers, parlours, studies, closets, chests, trunks, and cupboards and did convey away £2,000 in money’.


Stanton had a large sheep farm, and a secure ‘wool house’ stood next to the main house to store the fleeces. Mary had a key to one of the doors, but there was a second blocking the way, so she ordered her men to break it down. Bales or ‘staples’ of wool amounting to £300 in value were revealed, which were loaded onto a cart. Mary set off back to Goadby with the portable loot, sending the cart on to Leicester, where the wool was to be sold.


Unfortunately for her, Sir Robert Pierpoint, a friend of Sir William’s, seems to have been alerted to the break-in and, with ‘diverse others’, managed to intercept the cart, which they returned along with its load to Stanton.


Sir William was in no condition to recover his property, but the following month, ‘while sick in body but of good and perfect remembrance (thanks be to God)’, he drew up a will excluding his new wife and her children from his inheritance. Instead, everything was to go to Elizabeth, his daughter by his first marriage. He died a month later, and Mary promptly attempted to have a legal ‘caveat’ or stay put on the execution of her dead husband’s will, which seems to have been unsuccessful.


Around the same time, Elizabeth, Sir William’s daughter and sole beneficiary, took action. She had powerful connections. Her first husband, and the father of her daughter Anne, was Henry Talbot, son of the sixth Earl of Shrewsbury. Her second was the irascible MP Sir Thomas Holcroft, who not only boasted close links to Robert Cecil, the king’s chief minister, but had a history of violence involving at least two ferocious altercations, one resulting in a fatality.


Drawing on these links, Elizabeth was able to bring a case against Mary which culminated in February 1607 with a hearing before the Star Chamber. There Mary was accused, ‘at the relation of Sir Thomas Holcroft’, of ‘conspiracy, fraud, unlawful assembly and embezzlement’. These were serious charges, brought by the Attorney General, the government’s chief lawyer, and heard in England’s highest court, presided over by members of the Privy Council and the country’s most senior judges. A widow less formidable than Mary might have been overwhelmed by the onslaught. But she would not be intimidated, arguing that she had been forced to take the goods ‘under distress for a fifteenth’ – to pay overdue taxes due on her husband’s property.


The outcome of the case is unrecorded, but it hardened Mary’s resolve to rebuild her family’s fortunes. Drawing on her contested gains, she managed a swift conclusion of Susan’s marriage negotiations, and within weeks had found a more suitable candidate for a third husband.


Sir Thomas Compton was quite unlike Sir George Villiers or Sir William Reynor, boasting neither a flamboyant lineage nor prospects of an imminent inheritance. He was a log merchant variously described as ‘low-spirited’ and ‘backward’. History bothers to record only one incident from his youth, concerning a quarrel with a ‘roaring captain’ called Bird. Bird had taken to taunting young Compton for his slow-wittedness, eventually goading him into a duel. The challenge was accepted but, in a further provocation, the captain insisted that, in order to stop his opponent running away, the confrontation should take place in one of Sir Thomas’s ‘saw pits’, a deep, narrow trench in the ground used for the manufacture of planks. They duly met, and the blustering captain, brandishing his sword, shouted ‘Come, Compton, see what you can do now’, whereupon Sir Thomas ran him through with his weapon, ‘which,’ as a chronicler of the incident noted, ‘should teach us that strong presumption is the greatest weakness’.


Mary, a shrewd judge of men and opportunity, made no such presumption about the slow log merchant. She had met him via his mother, Frances Hastings, daughter of the Earl of Huntingdon, who had links with the Beaumonts. Sir Thomas’s fortunes were on the rise. His father Henry was a Warwickshire landowner with extensive estates, and his brother William, Lord Compton, was a glamorous star of the Accession Day Tilts, the annual jousts that celebrated the date of the monarch’s accession to the throne. Through his marriage to the daughter of the alderman Sir John Spencer, London’s lord mayor, William was also heir to a fortune said to be the biggest in the country.


It was probably William’s celebrity that led to ‘Master Thomas Compton, brother to the Lord Compton’ being selected as one of the members of a lavish embassy appointed by King James in 1604 to go to Spain. The aim was to finalize a new peace treaty that would end decades of war. This was a controversial policy that to many English politicians revealed the Scottish king’s suspected Catholic sympathies. For James, however, it was a natural development. Scotland had no history of enmity with Spain, and his new English administration was so cash-strapped, he could not afford any further costly confrontations with Europe’s maritime and economic superpower.


Thomas had received his knighthood from the king on his return from Madrid, enhancing further his financial position and connections to the royal court – exactly the qualities Mary needed in a husband. They were married some time after October 1607.


Meanwhile, Mary’s efforts to improve George’s prospects through his education were proving unproductive, his tutor Anthony Cade finding that he was ‘by nature little studious and contemplative’. So, ‘not without aim (though far off) at a courtier’s life’, she decided to focus on developing his more social or ‘conversative’ qualities, ‘as dancing, fencing and the like’. He quickly flourished, his teachers deciding that he was of such ‘dextrous proclivity’ that he should be taught on his own rather than with his brothers, for fear he would be held back.


While his conversative qualities began to flourish, when he turned sixteen, in May 1609, it was decided that George needed to ‘gain experience’. Mary’s new husband Sir Thomas drew on his courtly connections to procure a pass from the king’s Privy Council allowing George, chaperoned by his elder brother John, to ‘repair unto the parts beyond the seas’. They left for France later that year, accompanied by four servants.


Little is known about the adventures of the two Villiers boys. Letters home appear to have been sparse, forcing a desperate Mary to resort to astrology to find out what was happening to them. She had been consulting the famous astrologer-physician Richard Napier since 1609, mostly on matters concerning her health and that of her fragile youngest son, Kit. However, in the autumn and winter of 1610, she asked Napier to draw up several ‘horary’ astrological charts, perhaps hoping, like many mothers and wives in her position at the time, that the stars would cast at least a dim light on the welfare and whereabouts of her absent boys.


It was not until 1612 that she opened the door at Goadby Marwood to see them safely returned, three years after they had set out. A mother’s unbounded delight must have been multiplied by the transformation of her beloved George. While his ‘natural’ demeanour was unchanged, and though he had managed to avoid the ‘affected’ manners that were the ‘ordinary disease of travellers’, it was obvious he had acquired a dazzling polish. Sojourns in places like Blois, the country seat of the French monarchy, and Angers, famous as a centre for learning the noble arts such as horse riding, had lent him the Gallic air of sophistication and ‘nobility’ that, thanks to French influence over the Scottish court, was now becoming highly prized in England.


George would remain at Goadby for a year under the ‘wing and counsels’ of his mother, so that she could add finishing touches. Then, some time in late 1613 or early 1614, she decided he was ready.


‘Where the court is,’ wrote John Holles, an MP and desperate seeker of royal office, ‘there shines the sun only; all we here sit in darkness.’


Mary had spent a lifetime in the darkness, in the penumbra of the provincial gentry where prominence and wealth shaded into obscurity and penury. The time had come for the Villiers family to head into the light, and George would lead them there.




Debateable Lands


The easy road from Leicester to London was seventy-eight country miles, according to a travel guide from the time of George’s journey to the capital. It followed a well-trodden route. The traveller would set out along Fosse Way to High Cross, a journey of some sixteen miles, where the old Roman road to Winchester intersected with Watling Street, leading to London.


Once the journey taken by thousands of pilgrims heading for the shrine of St Alban, the road was now thick with young men like George, second sons and younger brothers jostling to make a name for themselves through courtly celebrity rather than religious devotion.


Though George had experience of travelling, to any twenty-year-old looking forward to a life in the capital, the approaches to London must have been daunting. The first landmark on the final leg of the long journey was ‘Mount Calvary’, a hill made up of bones excavated from London’s overflowing cemeteries, topped by a windmill. A little further on, the main road began to drop down as it entered the gentle slopes of the Thames valley. From here, the exhausted traveller had his first view of the capital.


Mass migration from the countryside, the arrival of so many hopefuls like George, had turned London and its surrounding towns and villages into a sprawling conurbation, threaded together by the broad ribbon of the Thames and the rivers feeding into it. The City itself, separated off from its surroundings by its imposing but disintegrating Roman wall, was dominated by the Gothic bulk of St Paul’s Cathedral, rising out of a thicket of church spires. To the west, upriver from the City, hugging the banks, lay a cluster of aristocratic mansions and cramped lawyers’ inns, leading on to the palace complexes of Whitehall and Westminster, the London bases of the Crown and Parliament respectively.


Continuing down towards Aldersgate, the traveller now found himself sinking into the melee of a great slum that had formed around the fringes of the City wall, passing the stinking ditch at its foot, filled with rotting food, sewage, carcasses and other debris of city life. Using a handkerchief to cover his nose, he carried on, following the line of the wall towards Smithfield meat market, where the stench of decay was replaced by the tang of slaughter. Cow Lane curved round towards the river, revealing a large painted sign of an Arab warrior, famous for its ferocity, which marked the location of the Saracen’s Head Inn, the terminus for journeys from Leicester.


The new arrival had a chance to wash off the dust in Holborn’s ‘conduit’, a spout fed by the Fleet River which filled a trough opposite the inn’s entrance, before following the slope of Snow Hill down to Ludgate. Here was the fulcrum of the city. On the far bank of the Thames, the Globe Theatre was just visible, recently reconstructed after cannon fired in a production of Shakespeare’s Henry VIII set its thatched roof ablaze. To his left, through the archway of the city gate, the precincts of St Paul’s could be seen, where booksellers and pamphleteers had their stalls, selling useful books such as a Guide for Cuntrey men In the famous Cittey of London.


George would turn his back on the City, heading up Fleet Street and the Strand, passing Charing Cross as he made his way to the Palace of Whitehall, the king’s London seat. Here was a disappointingly empty thoroughfare, lined with low-rise buildings. Those on one side catered for royal entertainments – tennis, cockfighting, bearbaiting, bowls. Behind a long wall was the tiltyard where George’s step-uncle, William, Lord Compton, had performed daring feats, and beyond lay gardens, orchards and stables leading into St James’s Park, the king’s private hunting ground. On the opposite side of the thoroughfare, next to the river, were the royal apartments.


For a young man who had travelled so far, from provincial obscurity, via some of the Continent’s most sophisticated centres of aristocratic culture, who had heard about if he had not seen the great royal palaces of the Louvre in Paris and the Escorial in Castile, Whitehall would have seemed underwhelming, even a crushing disappointment. Originally built by Cardinal Wolsey when he was Archbishop of York, and surrendered to Henry VIII following Wolsey’s plunge from grace, it was little more than a ramshackle complex of squat buildings.


The main point of architectural or navigational significance was a structure that joined together the two sides of the palace complex – east and west, court and cockpit, work and play. The Holbein Gate (named after Henry VIII’s favourite painter, who is thought to have lived there) was a graceful three-storey structure of chequered stone and flint with two octagonal turrets. But passing through the gate seemed to lead nowhere, or rather into a courtyard and another gate, beyond which lay Westminster, a separate palace that acted as the seat of Parliament.


The result was a royal residence that daunted its visitors not through the architecture of grandeur, or intimidation, but confusion. With some two thousand rooms, the Palace of Whitehall, like the royal court in general, was designed literally to amaze anyone who attempted to navigate its corridors and conventions. It was a labyrinth, with the king as the minotaur, and his bedchamber his lair.


To the yeoman at the guard chamber, George would have been just another provincial turning up in his country weeds, the connection to Lord Compton sufficient to get him into the presence chamber, one of the outer reception rooms that served as a meeting place for petitioners and other visitors, and a very occasional venue for royal appearances. Young hopefuls would mill around there, hoping for a chance to make themselves known to one of the privy councillors or, even better, a gentleman of the bedchamber, as they emerged briefly from the passageways that led deeper into the palace.


Mild interest was aroused by the new arrival. The Villiers name rang distant rural bells, and the Compton connection added a dash of glamour. But there was condescension too. George had decided to dress himself in ‘French garb’ to cut a dash, but it failed to impress. This was still another country bumpkin ‘in no greater a condition than fifty pounds a year is able to maintain’.


He artfully turned the snobbery to his advantage. Seen as harmless, he was able to slip past rivals and by mid-1614 had managed to make his way into the household of one of the most important families in the king’s entourage.


Sir Roger Aston was one of the king’s closest friends. The illegitimate son of a powerful Cheshire landowner, he had spent most of his life in Scotland, where a combination of sporting prowess, toughness and charm had led to him becoming barber, hunting companion and confidant to James, as well as the husband of Marjory Stuart, one of the king’s cousins and a lady-in-waiting to the queen consort, Anne of Denmark.


Sir Roger had died unexpectedly in 1612, and his wife soon after, leaving behind considerable wealth and four daughters. The youngest, Ann, was unmarried and a relationship quickly flourished between her and George, and, to the horror of friends of the Aston family and delight of court gossips, they became betrothed.


If George had hopes that the journey from Leicestershire to London meant leaving the past behind, they were to be dashed. Ann’s guardian and her father’s executor was Sir William Heyricke, an enterprising goldsmith and moneylender. He knew the Villiers family well, having lent considerable sums to George’s spendthrift father, some of it to buy pearls for Mary. So he was in a good position to assess the son’s financial prospects.


Ann’s older sister, Elizabeth, had recently married one John Grymesdyche, and Heyricke had negotiated the marriage settlement. It allowed for a £2,000 dowry to be paid to the groom’s family, and in return Elizabeth was granted a life interest in Mr Grymesdyche’s extensive Northamptonshire estates. As Heyricke well knew, George, with no inheritance or estates of his own, was in no position to offer a similar deal for an equally eligible bride. Indeed, to Sir William, George’s charm and ‘French garb’ only added to the impression that he was a fortune hunter. So, Sir William set about wrecking the romance by setting terms that George could only interpret as insulting: there was to be no dowry from Ann, and George would have to deposit a hundred marks (£66 6s 8d) – a sum well beyond his personal resources – as a ‘jointure’ or security, which would become Ann’s in the event of his death or their separation.


Whatever the obstacles, Ann and George seemed set on one another. She insisted that she would proceed with the marriage ‘in despite of all her friends’, while he declared it ‘the height of his ambition’ to be her husband, and that she was the only reason he remained ‘a hanger on upon the court’.


However, George’s sincerity was about to face a test sterner than any Sir William Heyricke could devise. The argument over the match had brought George’s presence to the attention of Sir John Graham, a senior courtier who had served alongside Ann’s late father as a gentleman of the royal bedchamber. He saw in the young man what the teachers of his courtly manners had seen: a refreshing English charm and attractiveness that James might appreciate – and for which there was a sudden and desperate demand.


Hailing from the gloriously named ‘debateable lands’, marking the fragile frontier between Scotland and England, the Graham clan had a noble tradition going back to Roman times of patrolling the borders to fight off English incursions. This gave Sir John an appreciation of the ancient rivalry between the two kingdoms, which seemed to have intensified rather than diminished since James had taken over both thrones. ‘The Scottish monopolize his princely person,’ John Holles complained, ‘standing like mountains betwixt the beams of his grace and us’. The result was ‘jealousy, distrust or unworthiness’ among his English subjects. ‘We most humbly beseech his Majesty his Bedchamber may be shared as well to those of our nation as to them,’ Holles had pleaded, and in this curious, charismatic twenty-one-year-old Englishman, Sir John wondered if he might have discovered a candidate capable of redressing the balance.


So he set about giving George ‘encouragement to woo fortune in court’ rather than with Ann. It was a fortune that, while fraught with danger, would take him into realms of influence and extravagance he could barely imagine, redeeming his family’s ancient line, and setting his beloved mother at the pinnacle of society, where she most manifestly belonged, and from which the failures of so many hapless or useless men had left her excluded.


‘O sweet god! O Pleasure! O Fortune! O all thou best of life!’ Malvole’s antagonist, Mendoza, promises in The Malcontent. ‘To be a favourite! A minion!’ This is what George had been groomed for, what his mother, through so many travails, had strived for, and what now seemed to be within grasp, if only he would surrender love for ambition.




Apethorpe


King James was a restless spirit. The ‘cradle king’, as he styled himself, had been crowned King of Scotland when he was barely a year old, in the midst of a murderous power struggle between his barons. ‘Nourished in fear’, as he later described it, he had been forced into exile in his own kingdom, kidnapped by his own subjects and throughout his childhood was under constant threat of assassination. As a result, he did not feel safe anywhere, and so would spend the year in ceaseless motion, moving from one location to the next, his court – ministers, nobles, bishops, gentlemen, grooms, clerics, clerks, purveyors, cooks, couriers and pages – forced to follow.


This restlessness took on a more ritual and formal purpose every summer, when James would embark upon his annual progress, his official tour of the country. Hundreds of carts – as many as 600 in one particularly extravagant year – would form a train that snaked across the kingdom, stopping off at the houses of local nobles along the way, each competing to bankrupt themselves with displays of ostentatious hospitality.


These progresses came like a plague of locusts to the local economy. An ancient royal prerogative known as ‘purveyance’ allowed the monarch’s officials to requisition provisions for the journey at a price of their choosing. This inevitably resulted in rampant corruption and produced an outpouring of complaints. But the progresses also acted as a way for James’s subjects to behold their king’s grandeur and acknowledge his supremacy. During a trip through Huntingdonshire, for example, the king found himself surrounded by a throng of people calling to him for his help. Sir John Spencer, the fabulously rich alderman whose daughter had married George’s step-uncle Lord Compton, had ‘very uncharitably molested’ local common land, they complained. They pleaded with the king to intercede against a powerful figure, ‘beseeching his Majesty that the commons might be laid open again, for the comfort of the poor inhabiters thereabout; which his Highness most graciously promised should be performed according to their heart’s desire’. Whether or not they would ultimately receive satisfaction, his assurances seemed to relieve the locals’ distress, and, ‘with many benedictions of the comforted people’, the king’s carriage passed on.


One of James’s favourite places to stay during these progresses was Apethorpe, in neighbouring Northamptonshire, home of the retired diplomat Sir Anthony Mildmay. Mildmay was a man equal to his name, a reluctant ambassador during Elizabeth’s reign, an unassuming MP for his county, who had made little political impact and an ‘honourable fast friend’ who liked to stay at home and read his books or tend to his estate.


Apethorpe was one of those distinctively English stately homes that managed to combine domestic intimacy with stately grandeur. James had first visited in 1603, as he made his way from Edinburgh to London to take the English throne. Mildmay had greeted the king with a dinner ‘most sumptuously furnished’, the tables resplendent with ‘costly banquets, wherein every thing that was most delicious for taste, proved more delicate, by the art that made it seem beauteous’. To round off proceedings, Mildmay had presented James with ‘a gallant Barbary horse, and a very rich saddle’, gifts well calculated to win the king’s approval.


Sir Anthony may well have come to regret his hospitality, as James would become a regular and very costly visitor at Apethorpe. The king even insisted that he build an extension, to make it more suitable for his ‘princely recreation’ and ‘commodious entertainment’, as well as a convenient base for his favourite pursuit: hunting in the nearby royal forest of Rockingham.


In July 1614, James was at Hawnes Hall in Bedfordshire, en route to Apethorpe, when news reached him that his brother-in-law, Christian IV, King of Denmark, had turned up unexpectedly at Somerset House, Queen Anne’s London residence. James immediately rode back to London, managing the journey in less than a day.


The Danish king was infamous for his carousing, even among the rowdier elements of the British court. During a previous visit, one witness of a particularly drunken evening’s revel remarked that ‘the Danes have again conquered the Britons, for I see no man, or woman either, that can now command himself or herself’.


Christian did not disappoint on this occasion either. The entertainments included a private drinking competition between the two kings, ‘where some dozen or fifteen healths passed to and fro’, followed by a riotous feast in Whitehall’s Banqueting House. A few days later, James escorted Christian back to his ship at Great Yarmouth, and saw him off before hastening back to his progress, ‘overtaking his hounds’ in his eagerness to reach Apethorpe.


The court, marooned in the Midlands and wondering what to do, erupted with speculation on the reason for the Danish king’s surprise visit. Some suggested Christian was trying to draw James into the military hostilities on the Continent, others insisted it concerned James’s controversial plans to marry off his son Prince Charles to the daughter of the Spanish king. Whatever the purpose, the diversion had left James in an exhausted and crapulent mood, which resulted in a spat with his secretary, Sir Thomas Lake, whose efforts to find out what was going on were interpreted as interference. Sir Thomas was put on half-rations for his pains.


But once the king was settled at Apethorpe, the mood relaxed.


It was 4 August, a Thursday evening. In Mildmay’s commodious hall, the tables were once again prepared for costly banquets, including the famously delicious candies prepared by Lady Mildmay, who was considered to be ‘one of the most excellent confectioners in England’. A gallery at one end of the hall provided a place for musicians to play, and for those with suitable permissions to gawp.


James took his seat at the high table, with his hosts and closest courtiers. As the serving of the evening’s meal commenced, he might have recited some poetry, or terrified a local cleric by inviting him to sit by his side and discourse on theology, or forced a guest to listen to his strong and idiosyncratic opinions on the dangers of witches and tobacco.


Behind the door of the garderobe, the service room connecting the kitchen to the hall, stood a nervous George Villiers, dressed in new livery chosen by Sir John Graham to flatter the young man’s athletic physique. George had been given the role of ‘extraordinary’ (probationary) cupbearer, an attendant whose job was to serve at the ‘upper end of the board at dinner’ where the king sat, replacing one of James’s usual attendants, who, despite protests, had been demoted to serve at the lower tables.


What was about to happen was a highly unusual and dangerously presumptuous exploit for all concerned. Graham would have had to call in considerable favours to achieve it. James’s reign had been marked by several attempts on his life, and if he was startled by an unfamiliar face was liable to react with terror or fury. Furthermore, the demands on cupbearers were daunting. These young ganymedes were expected not just to serve wine, but to entertain and delight. Success required an almost impossible alchemy of opposing elements: frailty combined with confidence, innocence with knowingness, masculinity with effeminacy. They had to be coy yet seductive, spontaneous yet calculating, lithe and quick, yet careful and watchful. So, when a gentle push from his patron propelled George into the banqueting hall for the first time, clutching a gilded flagon and an embroidered napkin, it would have been with a sense of trepidation for all concerned.


First impressions of the royal presence would have been confusing. There was nothing regal about James. The forty-eight-year-old was an unprepossessing, to some even slightly repulsive figure, of ‘middling stature’. He had a snub nose with pronounced bags beneath large eyes, like the awnings of a sail in a slack wind, giving him a doleful look. His red moustache and beard were ‘very thin’ and framed bulging, misshapen lips. As a cupbearer would be only too aware, his tongue was too large for his mouth, causing him to slobber and spill drink and food over his front. His complexion was ‘as soft as taffeta sarsnet’, the most delicate of fabrics, and he was rumoured never to wash his hands, only rubbing his finger ends slightly with the wet end of a napkin. He had a distracted air about him, his gaze roving around continuously, and was constantly fiddling about his codpiece. But he was also good company: erudite, sensitive and clever, eager to be entertained and generous and sincere with his emotions and affections.


All eyes would have been on George as he approached the king, assessing with minute care the royal reaction. The initial response was promising – a flicker of interest over the rim of the goblet.


Then, disaster. While carrying a tray of meat to the royal table, George was given a knock by the cupbearer whose position he had taken, causing food to spill over his new clothes. Withdrawing to clean himself up, he returned to the hall soon after and confronted his adversary, giving him a ‘box on the ear’.


The impetuous act caught the attention of Robert Carr, the irascible and jealous Earl of Somerset, the king’s current favourite and the most powerful of his courtiers. Sitting at the top table, near to James, he had spotted the king’s interest in the newcomer, and, sensing the presence of a potential rival, decided to take action. He demanded that George should face the customary punishment for starting a fight in the royal presence of having his hand cut off. But, to Carr’s consternation, the king intervened, pardoning George, ‘without any satisfaction to the other party’. It was a sensational outcome, reinforcing Carr’s conviction that the upstart must be destroyed.
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